No. 73651-5-I

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

**DAVID PATTEN**, Appellant

v.

LESLIE PATTE, Respondent,

#### **OPENING BRIEF**

David Patten 700 NW Gilman Blvd, #235 Issaquah, Wa., 98027

#### **

### I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

#### A. Assignments of error

- 1. The trial court erred in granting a default dissolution on February 18, 2014. 2. The Trial court erred in refusing to set aside the dissolution on 4-30-2015
- 3. The trial court erred in denying the Motion for Reconsideration on 5-28-2015

#### B. Issues relating to the Assignment of error

- 1. Is a default court order on dissolution void for lack of jurisdiction when it was improperly noted and scheduled in violation of the court rules?
  - 2. Was the Motion to set aside under CR 60 timely filed and served?
  - 3. Should this order be set aside under CR 60?

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Procedural Facts

- 1.On June 18, 2013, the petitioner-wife, Leslie Patten filed for dissolution..(CP 1-5)
- 2.On August 8, 2013, the court set a case schedule with a trial date of 7-7-2014. (CP 6) . Judge Robinson Palmer was assigned as judge. (CP 6)

- 3. On August 8, 2013, the wife filed for a temporary order requesting temporary custody, child support, restraining respondent from moving children, making each party responsible for future debts, orders respondent to immediately sign authorization form to change the mailing address of the royalty checks are mailed to the family home and dividing responsibility for the debts of parties. (CP 20-80) She also filed a financial declaration on that date. (CP 81-85).
- 4. On August 23, 2013, the wife obtained a temporary restraining order (CP 88-90).
- 5. On October 17, 2013, the wife obtained a temporary child support order. (CP 101-102). On that date she filed a proposed parenting plan. (CP 95-100)
- 6. On January 21, 2013, wife filed an amended petition along with a declaration indicating that the respondent-husband had been served in jail with the amended petition on January 17, 2013. (CP 110-115)
- 7. On January 23, the wife filed a certification stating that the husband had been served with a motion for default and a note for motion for defaulted on January 18, 2013).(CP 116)
- 8. On February 8, 2013, the wife filed a motion for default, and a note for motion for default, noting it for February 18, 2013 (CP 117-120)

- 9. On February 18, 2013, the court entered a Order on Motion for Default, Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, Parenting Plan Final Order, Decree of Dissolution, Certificate of Compliance, and Restraining Order. (CP 121-145))
- 10. On February 18, 2014, the husband filed a notice of appearance, a motion to set aside the decree and the order of default. (CP148-152)
- 11. On March 4, 2014, an order to show cause was signed as to whether the order of default and the accompanying orders should be set aside. A hearing was scheduled for April 10, 2014. (CP 153)
- 12. On March 23, 2015, an affidavit of service was filed showing wife was served with motion to vacate. (CP 154-155)
  - 13. On March 26, 2015, wife appeared through counsel. (CP 156).
- 14. On April 6, 2015, the hearing was re-noted for April 30, 2014.(CP 157-158)
- 15. On April 7, 2015, a show cause order was signed, calling on the wife to respond to the order at a hearing on April 30. (CP 159-160).
- 16. Wife responded to the show cause order on April 24, 2015 and April 28, 2015. (CP 161-169)
  - 17. Husband replied on April 29, 2015 (CP 170-173).

- 18. Court denied Motion to set aside on April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2015. (CP 174-176)
- 19. On May 7, husband filed a Motion for Reconsideration noting it for May 18, 2014. (CP 177-186)
- 20. On May 13, Court Orders Response. Within 10 days with response due two days after service of Resonse. (CP 187).
  - 21. On May 22, 2015, wife files a Response. (CP 190-198)
  - 22. On May 27, 2015, husband filed a Reply to the Response (CP 199-233)
  - 23. On May 28, 2015, Court issues order on Reconsideration. (CP 240)
- 24. On June 25, 2015, Patten files a notice of appeal. (CP 243-44)B. Substantive Facts.
- 1. This is a long term marriage, with the parties having been married 17 years at the time the dissolution was filed. (CP 22).
- 2. Just before the bottom fell out of the housing market in 2008, DHL, a corporation run by the husband, basically lost its business because its shipping carrier picked up and left the country. (CP (24).
- 3. Even though he was suffering from alcoholism, as evidenced by a DUI he received in October 2008, in the summer of 2010, he was able to negotiate a sale of the business for \$800,000 and royalties of 8% of

monthly profits. (CP 24). The wife admits that the payments went from \$2000 to \$8000 per month averaging \$4000 per month. She does not deny the husbands allegation that the royalties were at \$8000 per month at the time of the default. (CP 150). This was an extraordinary good deal that no other franchise during that period of time had been able to negotiate. (CP 201) This royalty payment is expected to grow to at least \$16,000 per month and possible as much as \$20,000 to \$30,000 month (CP 201).

According to calculations done by the husband, at the time of the motion for reconsideration, payments had grown to almost \$3000 per week. (CP 202)

- 4. The husband was primarily responsible for the business during the marriage, putting in 12-13 hour days. He oversaw the business which started a profits of \$1000 per week, which eventually grew to over \$40,000 per week. During this time, the couple was able to have the mother stay at home and take care of the children instead of sending them to a day care center. (CP 203). The husband does not deny that the wife was an excellent mother but does say she was unwilling to help out by getting a job when the business failed. (CP 152).
- 5. In her motion for temporary orders, the petitioner never requested the right to sign for company checks, only that they be delivered to her. (CP 21). She does not allege that she was an officer of the

company or in any other way have a right to sign for checks nor have exclusive right to the money. (CP 22-80)

6. After the petitioner appeared at a preliminary hearing concerning temporary custody (See Tr. February 18, 2004, p. 5, 1. 20 to p. 6 l. 3), he later was charged on an unrelated matter. He was served with an amended petition that drastically changed the petition on January 17<sup>th</sup>, 2014. (CP 1-5, 110-115). Although he was served with the motion for default the next day along with a noting date, at the time he was served, he was not in default because the 10 days for responding to an amended summons had not elapsed. There was no allegation in the motion for default that the petitioner was in default at the time it was drafted. (CP 117-120). The motion and default were not filed until February 6, 2014, which was a mere twelve days before the noting date. King County local rules require that the motion be filed 14 days before the noting date. King County LFLR 6. It is not known how the petitioner was able to get her motion heard, but it is highly unlikely it was done through legal means. According to page 5 of the transcript of February 18, 2014, counsel for the petitioner admitted she participated in some kind of illegal ex parte contact when she stated, "We've scheduled a motion this morning." (Tr. 2-18-2014, p.. 5, l. 12-13.). King County rules do not allow for scheduling a motion on just 12 days notice, let alone less than one day.

- 7. The husband was in jail at the time he was served with the amended petition of January 17. (CP 110-115). According to his declaration, he could not make outgoing calls without calling collect and therefore could not communicate with any attorneys. (CP 185). The jailers would not give him transport so there was no way for him to get to the hearing. (CP 185). The only way he could think of to communicate with the court was to send his nephew, who the court did not recognize (CP 185).
- 8. Following his release, the petitioner declared under oath that he could not afford to put up a retainer for an attorney (CP 151) which typically required a \$5000 (CP 217)
- 9. The petitioner filed his motion within one year of the Dissolution order on February 18, 2014. (CP 148-152). It was served approximately a month later. (CP 154-155).

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT LACKED PERSONAL AND SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THE HUSBAND IN THE ORIGINAL DECREE SO THE ORDER OF DISSOLUTION BASED UPON DEFAULT IS VOID.

Under RAP 2.5(a) a party may raise trial court jurisdiction at any time, including for first time on appeal.

The Wife served the husband with the amended petition on February 17, 2015. She served him with a motion for default the very next day on February 18, 2015. He was not in default because CR 15(a) gives the petitioner 10 days to respond to an amended petition. There was no allegation in the motion for default that he was actually in default, only that he had been served. Thus he was improperly served with a motion for default without being in default under CR 55 (a)(1), which requires that a motion for default may be made only when "when a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to appear, plead, or otherwise defend as provided by these rules. The husband had appeared in previous temporary motion hearings so he cannot be accused of failing to appear. Therefore, he is only in default when he has failed to plead or defend as required by the rules. As stated earlier, he had no obligation to defend unless 10 days had elapsed after serving the amended complaint. The service of the amended complaint was therefore premature and the court lacked jurisdiction to proceed under CR 55.

Then, because he had appeared, King County Local Rule required that the court be given 14 days notice before a motion for default could be heard. The court only had 12 days notice, so the court lacked jurisdiction to even schedule a hearing, let alone hear it. Apparently the trial court correctly refused to schedule a hearing because counsel admitted that the

hearing had only been scheduled that morning. There is nothing in the record showing that this scheduling was done pursuant to any rule, and there is nothing in the record that shows that the husband was notified of this act. RPC 3.4 states

A lawyer shall not:... (c) knowingly disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exists;

RPC 3.5 states:

A lawyer shall not: (a) seek to influence a judge, juror, prospective juror or other official by means prohibited by law; (b) communicate ex parte with such a person during the proceeding unless authorized to do so by law or court order;

Here there is no provision in the rules that allows an attorney to schedule a hearing without giving 14 days notice to the court. The court therefore lacked jurisdiction to hear the motion. Under CR 60(5), the court can set such a void order aside at any time

In addition, the court never addressed the issue that the default decree had an injunction when the amended complaint did not ask for one. That injunction is likewise void for lack of jurisdiction and can be brought at any time

B. EVEN IF THE ORDER IS NOT VOID FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION, THEN IT WAS TIMELY FILED WITHIN ONE YEAR.

CR 60 only requires that a motion be "made" within one year, not served. The respondent has not cited to any authority as to why the motion must be served within one year. CR 60(e)(3) states that service should be accomplished in the same manner as that of a summons and complaint, and RCW 4.16.170 gives the plaintiff 90 days to serve a complaint after it is filed. By analogy, the husband's motion should be considered timely served because it was served within 90 days of filing.

# C. THE COURT SHOULD SET THE JUDGMENT ASIDE FOR THE REASONS GIVEN IN THE HUSBANDS MOTION TO SET ASIDE.

Application of CR 60(b)(1) turns on the following four factors: (1) that there is substantial evidence extant to support, at least prima facie, a defense to the claim asserted by the opposing party; (2) that the moving party's failure to timely appear in the action and answer the opponent's claim was occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (3) that the moving party acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgment; and (4) that no substantial hardship will result to the opposing party. *Pfaff v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 103 Wn. App. 829, 832, 14 P.3d 837 (2000), review denied, 143 Wn.2d 1021 (2001); *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 352, 438 P.2d 581 (1968).

Here the plaintiff has met all four factors. He has a valid defense because the wife was awarded all the assets and the trial court never even addressed the issue whether it was fair and equitable. For the wife to come to the court and demand a judgment in equity, she is required to come with clean hands. This principle is expressed by the old equity maxims: "He who seeks equity must do equity", and "he who comes into equity must come with clean hands." *In re Estate of Novolich*, 7 Wash. App. 495, 502, 500 P.2d 1297 (1972). It appears to the husband that the wife and her counsel come before the court with "unclean hands" because of the unethical manner in which the motion was served noted and heard.

He could not appear because he was in jail and had no reasonable method to appear in the court. He could not find an attorney he could afford with a retainer until the year was about to expire. There is no substantial hardship because the defendant can still raise all the defenses she was entitled to.

Dated this 16th day of February, 2016

David Patten

I certify that on this date I caused a copy of this document to be mailed to

Catherine W. Smith 1619;8<sup>th</sup> Ave. N., Seattle, WA., 98109

Veronica Freitas 210 Summit Ave. E. Seattle, WA., 98102-5619

Dated this 16th day of February, 2016

David Patten