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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court had full jurisdiction over the
proceedings and properly entered the final
dissolution decree and restraining order by default.

The trial court had both personal and subject matter

jurisdiction over the parties and the dissolution proceedings.

Under RCW 26.09.030, a party who is, or is married to, a resident

of this state may petition for dissolution of marriage, alleging that

the marriage is irretrievably broken. When 90 days have elapsed

since the petition was filed and from the date when the respondent

was served with the summons, the court "shall" enter a decree of

dissolution "[i]f the other party ... does not deny that the marriage

... is irretrievably broken." RCW 26.09.030(a). In entering the

decree, the court may enter an order of child support, maintenance,

property division, and a restraining order. RCW 26.09.050(1).



In Marriage of Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 316 P.3d 999

(2013), cert, denied, 135 S.Ct. 181 (2014), our Supreme Court

clarified that jurisdiction is comprised of two elements: personal

jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction. 179Wn.2d at 447, If 23.

Subject matter jurisdiction "refers to a court's ability to entertain a

type of case, nor to its authority to enter an order in a particular

case." Buecking, 179 Wn.2d at 448, 1 23 (emphasis added). Thus,

"if a court can hear a particular class of case, then it has subject

matter jurisdiction." Buecking, 179 Wn.2d at 448,1124. The Court

held that if the residency requirement under RCW 26.09.030 is

met, the trial court has full jurisdiction over the proceedings.

Buecking, 179 Wn.2d at 452, If 34. That jurisdiction is limited "to

granting the relief contemplated by the statute." Buecking, 179

Wn.2d at 452, H34.

Despite appellant's contention otherwise, the trial court

indeed had jurisdiction over him personally and over the subject

matter. The residency requirement was met as both the husband

and the wife have at all times during these proceedings been

residents of Washington. (CP 2, 111) Because residency is the

prerequisite to the trial court's exercise of jurisdiction under RCW

26.09.030, it had the authority to preside over the parties'

10



dissolution case. In addition, the dissolution decree, including the

final restraining order, was the type of relief "contemplated by the

statute." Accordingly, the trial court exercised full and proper

personal and subject matter jurisdiction over the final orders

entered by default.

1. The court's subject matter jurisdiction was not
affected by the dates on which the amended
petition and motion for default were filed,
noted, or served.

The husband contends that the default judgment against him

is void under CR 60(b)(5) because the trial court lacked jurisdiction

to proceed with the motion for default based on when he was served

with the amended petition and when the motion for default was

filed. (App. Br. 8-9) However, it is undisputed that by the time the

motion was filed with the court and noted for hearing, the husband

was in default. In any event, the husband's arguments fail because

neither affects the court's subject matter jurisdiction over the case.

a. The husband was in default when the
motion was noted and filed because he
failed to respond to the amended
petition within ten days.

Under CR 12(a)(1), a defendant has twenty days after service

of the summons and complaint to serve an answer. A party may

amend their pleading once at any time before a responsive pleading

11



is served. CR 15(a). The other party then has the longer of either

the remaining time to respond to the original pleading or within ten

daysafterserviceof the amended pleading to respond. CR 15(a). A

party may move for an entry of default against an opposing party

that has failed to respond within that time. CR 55(a)(1).

Here, the husband was served with the amended petition for

dissolution on January 17, 2014, well after the time to respond to

the original petition (served on August 9, 2013) had elapsed. (CP

115, 255-56) Further, the ten-day period to respond to an amended

pleading under CR 15(a) had passed on January 28, 2014, well

before the motion for the default judgment was noted and filed with

the court on February 6, 2014. The wife thus properly moved for

entry of default.

b. The default decree is not void for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction because the
husband had more than fourteen days
notice before the hearing.

If a party has appeared in the proceeding, but not filed a

response to the petition for dissolution, any other party may move

for an order of default, provided that notice is given in accordance

with King County Local Family Law Rule (KCLFLR) 6. KCLFLR

5(c)(8). Under KCLFLR 6, the motion and all supporting

documents must be filed with the clerk and served on all parties "at

12



least fourteen (14) calendar days before the date of the hearing."

KCLFLR 6(b)(2). Upon entry of the order of default, a default

judgment, including an order setting support, may be entered.

KCLFLR 5(c)(8)(B). Uncontested final decrees of dissolution must

be noted on at least fourteen days notice, "provided that, the matter

need not be noted for hearing when presented by an attorney of

record . . . [who] has signed and filed a certificate of compliance in

the form prescribed by the court." KCLFLR 5(c)(1).

Here, it is undisputed that the husband was served with the

motion for default and notice of hearing more than fourteen days in

advance of the hearing. Nevertheless, the husband contends that

because the court only had twelve days notice, "the court lacked

jurisdiction to even schedule a hearing." (App. Br. 8) As a

threshold matter, the final orders are not void for lack of subject

matter jurisdiction because the trial court had the authority to hear

the case. Buecking, 179 Wn.2d at 448, U23. Therefore, the trial

court retained full jurisdiction over the proceedings, and was able to

schedule the hearing and enter the default orders. The husband's

contention that the order was void is thus without merit.

The husband cites RPC 3.4 and 3.5, insinuating that the

wife's trial counsel acted improperly because "[t]here is nothing in

13



the record showing that this scheduling [for a hearing on a motion

for default] was done pursuant to any rule, and there is nothing in

the record that shows that the husband was notified of this act."

(App. Br. 9) This argument is entirely inaccurate. The scheduling

for the motion for default was done pursuant to KCLFLR 5(c)(8)

and KCLFLR 6(b)(2). Although the motion for default was filed

only twelve, rather than fourteen, days prior to the hearing, there

was no prejudice to the husband because he had been served with

the motion on January 18, 2014, a month prior to the February 18

hearing - well in advance of the timeframe set forth by KCLFLR

6(b)(2). (CP 116, 119, 141; App. Br. 6) He thus knew that the wife

was seeking default, had adequate notice of the hearing, and had

adequate opportunity to respond.

Regardless, the trial court has "inherent power to waive its

rules." Raymond v. Ingram, 47 Wn. App. 781, 784, 737 P.2d 314,

rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d 1031 (1987), superseded by statute on other

grounds. "Unless the record shows that an injustice has been done,

this court will presume" that the trial court disregarded the local

rules for a good reason. Raymond, 47 Wn. App. at 784. Here,

given that no injustice had been done because the husband had

notice of the hearing, it was well within the trial court's discretion to

14



waive its local rules and allow the wife to note the motion on twelve

days notice.

Once the order for default was entered by the trial court on

February 18, 2014, the wife was able to seek entry of a default

judgment without further notice to the husband. KCLFLR 5(c)(8).

Under KCLFLR 5(c)(1), uncontested final decrees of dissolution do

not need to be noted for a hearing at all when presented by an

attorney of record who has signed and filed a certificate of

compliance, as the wife's counsel did here. (CP 137-39) Thus, the

wife complied with the local family law rules when seeking entry of

the final decree by default.

2. The final restraining order is not void for lack
of jurisdiction because it arose out of this
dissolution action.

The husband argues that the final restraining order entered

against him on February 18, 2014 is void for lack of jurisdiction

because "the default decree had an injunction when the amended

complaint did not ask for one." (App. Br. 9) Because the final

restraining order arose out of this dissolution action, over which the

trial court had full personal and subject matter jurisdiction, the

restraining order is not void for lack of jurisdiction. Buecking, 179

Wn.2d at 448, U23; see also RCW 26.09.020, 26.09.050.

15



In addition, although the amended petition for dissolution

stated that a continuing restraining order did not apply, (CP 112),

the husband was served a copy of the final proposed restraining

order on January 18, 2014, at the same time he was served with the

note for the motion for the February 18 hearing, as well as the

motion and declaration for default and the proposed orders on the

motion for default. (CP 116,119,141; App. Br. 6) Therefore, he was

on notice that the wife was seeking a final restraining order against

him that the court ultimately adopted.

B. The husband's motion to vacate the default
judgment under CR 60 was untimely.

1. The husband's motion to vacate under CR

60(b)(1) was untimely because it was not filed
and served within a reasonable time and over

a year after the entry ofjudgment.

The husband argues that if the decree is not void for lack of

jurisdiction under CR 60(b)(5), then it was timely filed within one

year and should be set aside under CR 60(b)(1). (App. Br. 9-11) He

contends that "CR 60 only requires that a motion be 'made' within

one year, not served." (See App. Br. 10) Thus, he argues that

although he did not serve the wife until more than a year had

passed, the motion was still timely because it was filed on February

18, 2015, exactly one year after judgment was entered. (App. Br.

16



10) This argument is inaccurate, however, because the adverse

party must be served within one year of the entry of the decree if the

motion to vacate is based on irregularities in the proceedings.

Under CR 60(b)(1), the court may relieve a party from a final

judgment or order for "[mistakes, inadvertence, surprise,

excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order."

A motion under CR 60(b)(1) "shall be made within a reasonable

time" and "not more than 1 year after the judgment, order, or

proceeding was entered or taken." CR 60(b). RCW 4.72.020, which

"remain[s] in full force and effect" except as modified by CR 60,

further specifies:

The proceedings to vacate or modify a judgment or
order for .. . irregularity in obtaining the judgment or
order, shall be by motion served on the adverse party
or on his or her attorney in the action, and within one
year.

(emphasis added)

Here, the husband brought his motion to vacate the default

decree under CR 60(b)(1) for an irregularity in obtaining the

judgment. (CP 149; 4/30 RP 15) He filed a notice of appearance

and a motion to vacate on February 18, 2015, exactly one year after

the final orders were entered by default. (CP 148-52) However, he

did not serve the wife with the motion or order to show cause until

17



March 19, 2015, thirteen months after the final orders were entered.

(4/30 RP 14, 34-36) Under CR 60(b) and RCW 4.72.020, the

proceedings to vacate for an irregularity must be made and served

on the adverse party within one year. Therefore, the trial court

properly found that the motion to vacate was untimely.

2. Even if the motion was made within a year, the
trial court did not abuse its discretion in
finding that the motion was untimely because
it was not made within a reasonable time.

This Court has held that "a motion brought under CR

60(b)(1) may be untimely if it is not made within a reasonable time

even if it is filed within one year from the date of the judgment,

order, or proceeding from which relief is sought." Luckett v. Boeing

Co., 98 Wn. App. 307, 308, 989 P.2d 1144 (1999), rev. denied, 140

Wn.2d 1026 (2000) (emphasis added). In Luckett, this Court noted

that the "critical period in the determination of whether a motion to

vacate is brought within a reasonable time is the period between

when the moving party became aware of the judgment and the filing

of the motion." 98 Wn. App. at 312. Two major considerations in

determining a motion's timeliness are (1) prejudice to the

nonmoving party due to the delay, and (2) whether the moving

party has good reasons for failing to take appropriate action sooner.

18



Luckett, 98 Wn. App. at 312. This Court will not disturb a trial

court's determination that a motion to vacate is untimely unless the

trial court abused its discretion. Luckett, 98 Wn. App. at 309-10.

Here, the husband admits that he was aware of the entry of

the default judgment in February 2014. (4/30 RP 16) In

considering the timeliness of the motion, the trial court properly

found that "Ms. Patten would suffer a hardship if the orders were

set aside at this point," (CP 175), given the costs of the hearing to

vacate the judgment and "having lived with and worked under this

order for this period of time." (4/30 RP 39) In addition, the trial

court did not find that the husband had good reasons for failing to

take appropriate action sooner, as he was released from prison in

April 2014, "just a couple of months after the orders were entered,"

and yet it took him "past that year mark of the entry of the orders to

come into court." (4/30 RP 37)

To compare, in Luckett, the party's counsel became aware in

August 1996 that the action had been dismissed, but waited until

December 31,1996 to file the motion to vacate. 98 Wn. App. at 313.

This Court found that the trial court was well within its discretion in

finding that waiting four months without "any good reason" was not

within a reasonable time. Luckett, 98 Wn. App. at 313. Here, the

19



husband waited three times as long as the party in Luckett to filehis

motion to vacate without any good reason for doing so. The trial

court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the motion was

untimely.

C. Even if the motion to vacate was timely, the trial
court properly refused to vacate the default
judgment because the husband could not satisfy the
four Holm factors.

This Court reviews a denial of a motion to vacate a default

judgment for an abuse of discretion. Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696,

703, If 16, 161 P.3d 345 (2007). The trial court's "exercise of that

discretion will not be disturbed unless abuse thereof is clearly

shown." Carmichael v. Carmichael, 5 Wn. App. 715, 718, 490 P.2d

442 (1971). "A trial court abuses its discretion only when its

decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable

grounds." Rosander v. Nightrunners Transport, Ltd., 147 Wn.

App. 392, 403, If 20, 196 P.3d 711 (2008); Marriage of Thompson,

32 Wn. App. 179,183, 646 P.2d 163 (1982).

In determining whether to set aside a default judgment, the

trial court must consider four factors: (1) whether there is

substantial evidence to support at least a prima facie defense to the

claim asserted by the opposing party; (2) the moving party's failure

to timely appear and answer the opponent's claim was the result of
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mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (3) the

moving party acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the

default judgment; and (4) no substantial hardship will result to the

opposing party. Rosander, 147 Wn. App. at 404,1 21 (citing Holm,

73 Wn.2d at 352). The first two factors are primary, and the burden

is on the moving party to demonstrate that all of these factors are

satisfied. Rosander, 147 Wn. App. at 404,1! 22; Holm, 73 Wn.2d at

352. Here, the trial court properly found that the husband failed to

satisfy these four factors. Thus, the trial court was well within its

discretion in denying the husband's motion to vacate the judgment.

The trial court properly found that there was not substantial

evidence to support a defense. The husband merely listed the assets

that had been awarded to the wife, and complained that he had only

been left with little personal property, tax liability, and debts he had

not previously disclosed. (CP 150-52) However, he did not make

any recommendations for how the trial court should have divided

the property aside from saying that he "thought it would be one-

half." (CP 150) Nor did he demonstrate that the court would have

made a different distribution of the assets and liabilities than what

was set forth in the default orders, especially in light of the debts he

incurred on behalf of the marital property without the wife's
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knowledge. Marriage of Wallace, ill Wn. App. 697, 708, 45 P.3d

1131 (2002) ("In making its property distribution, the trial court

may properly consider a spouse's waste or concealment of assets."),

rev. denied, 148 Wn.2d 1011 (2003). A property division is not

subject to vacation merely because it is undesirable to one or both

parties. See, e.g., Marriage ofTang, 57 Wn. App. 648, 789 P.2d 118

(1990) (relief from dissolution decree and property division not

justified even where decree failed to list the parties' property and

left the parties as tenants in common of most of their property);

Marriage of Thompson, 32 Wn. App. at 185 (trial court did not

abuse its discretion in division of property despite wife's contention

that the distribution was "not fair"). In any event, a disparate

property division favoring the parent with whom the children

primarily reside is appropriate when the other parent is relieved of

their child support obligations, as is the case here. See Holaday v.

Merceri, 49 Wn. App. 321, 326-27, 742 P.2d 127 (trial court

correctly concluded that wife's child support obligation was

satisfied by disparate division of property), rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d

1035 (1987).

As the court noted, this was merely "evidence pre[s]ented as

to why Mr. Patten doesn't believe that the distribution of the assets
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was just and equitable, but that isn't a defense. That's

dissatisfaction." (4/30 RP 38) The court concluded that "[a]

defense would be articulating the evidence that the Court would

look at and make a determination that the assets should be

distributed differently," but it could not in this position

"substitut[e] [its] own decision based on very limited information

as to how . . . some property should be distributed." (4/30 RP 38)

Therefore, the trial court properly found that the husband had not

met the requisite showing of a defense merely by presenting

evidence of his dissatisfaction with the property distribution.

The trial court similarly found that the second factor was not

satisfied because there was no justification as to why the husband

had failed to timely appear. The trial court did not "believe that

there was a mistake or inadvertence," (4/30 RP 38), and similarly

found that the husband "did not demonstrate excusable neglect."

(CP 175) The court noted that "addiction is not a reason that the

Court would look beyond the one year in determining when you can

come back," especially because "despite being in the position of

being actively involved in [his] addiction," the husband was "aware

of the case," "came to court," and "there was some participation by"

him. (4/30 RP 36-37) Nevertheless, he "never filed a response that
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would have prevented the entry of the default." (4/30 RP 37)

Although the trial court looked at the husband's incarceration at the

time the amended petition was filed "as certainly a hardship to

[him] being able to participate in the hearing," it could not find

there to be excusable neglect when the husband was "released in

April, so just a couple of months after the orders were entered," and

yet it took him "past that year mark of the entry of the orders to

come into court." (4/30 RP 37)

For this same reason, the husband also failed to meet the

third factor of acting with due diligence after notice of entiy of the

default judgment. In line with this Court's holding in Luckett, the

trial court recognized that the case law requires the moving party to

do "something within just a few months in order for the Court to

find that in fact due diligence is being acted upon," because "if

someone lives with an order for a year . . . there should be some

certainty and some resolution with regard to that." (4/30 RP 39)

Accordingly, the trial court properly found that "Mr. Patten did not

act with due diligence after he became aware of entry of the default

orders." (CP 175)

Finally, the trial court found that the fourth factor was not

satisfied because the wife would suffer a substantial hardship if the
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motion were granted. The trial court was well within its discretion

in finding that "Ms. Patten would suffer a hardship if the orders

were set aside at this point." (CP 175)

Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in

denying the husband's untimely motion to vacate the judgment

after considering and deciding that he did not satisfy the four Holm

factors.

TV. CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the trial court's decision denying

appellant's motion to vacate.

Dated this 30th day of March, 2016.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S. V. FREITAS LAW, PLLC

Valerie A. Villacin

WSBA No. 34515
Victoria E. Ainsworth

WSBA No. 49677

Veronica A. Freitas
WSBA No. 19405

Attorneys for Respondent